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AFFIDA VIT IN SUPPORT OF AN 
APPLICATION FOR A CRIMINAL 

COMPLAINT AND ARREST 
WARRANT 
(U nder Seal) 

1. I, Clinton F. Pierce, being first duly swom,hereby depose and state as follows: 

INTRODUCTION AND AGENT BACKGROUND 

2. I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (''FBI''), having entered on 

duty on July 18, 2010, and as such, am an investigative or law enforcement officer of the United 

States within the meaning of Rule 4 I (a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. I am engaged 

in the enforcement of criminal laws and am within the category of officers authorized by the 

Attorney General to request and execute arrest and search warrants. 

3. I have investigated national security cases involving individuals seeking to travel overseas 
to 

commit violet jihad, (i.e. to fight and engage in terrorist activity) as well as individuals involved in using the 

internet and social media applications in support ofterrorist activities and/or organizations. Additionally, I have 

completed FBI administered counterterrorism classroom and online training, at the FBI Academy 

and other FBI facilities. Currently, I am assigned to the South Carolina Joint Terrorism Task Force 

("JTTF"). My duties at the JTTF include investigat ing criminal violations of the federal laws of the 

United States. During my six year career as an FBI Special Agent, I have participated in 

investigations of individuals who are motivated by extremist ideology and groups who commit 

or conspire to commit criminal acts, including acts of terrorism. I have conducted and participated 

in physical and electronic surveillance, executed search warrants, debriefed in;? and 

Redacted
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cooperating witnesses and reviewed recorded conversations. Additionally, I have received 

training, both formal and informal, in counter terrorism cases through the FBI's training academy in 

Quantico, Virginia. As an FBI Special Agent with the JTTF I have investigated Counterterrorism 

and Criminal matters. This investigative experience has provided a comprehensive understanding of 

how extremists utilize social media, the internet, and criminal activity to support terrorism. 

4. The facts in this affidavit come from my personal observations, my training and experience, 

and information obtained from other FBI employees as well as from other law enforcement agencies. 

This affidavit is intended to show merely that there is sufficient probable cause to support the 

criminal complaint and does not purport to set forth all of the knowledge of or investigation into 

this matter. Unless specifically indicated otherwise, all conversations and statements described in 

this affidavit are related in substance and in part only, in reliance on draft verbatim transcripts that 

have not yet been finalized but I believe are accurate in their representation of the substance or the 

conversations and statements. All dates are on or about the specified date. 

5. Based on my training and experience as a Special Agent with the FBI, as well as the facts set 

forth in this affidavit, there is probable cause to believe that on or about January 3, 2017, through 

March 30, 2017, Zakaryia Abdel Abdin (Abdin) attempted to provide material support to a 

designated foreign terrorist organization, the Islamic State of Iraq and ai-Sham ("ISIS") in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2339B(a)(l). Specifically, Abdin attempted to 

provide material support or reUCEs, as the term is defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2339(a), namely 

personnel, (i.e. himself), to ISIS and has performed these acts in the District of South Carolina. 

6. This Court is advised that there are statements within the Probable Cause section of this 

Affidavit that have been preliminarily translated from Arabic into English by a qualified FBI 

Linguist for the purpose of accurately representing the statements made by Abdin. Where there 
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are multiple instances of a particular term or phrase, Affiant will only include a translation for 

the initial occurrence. 

PROBABLE CAUSE 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 2339B(a)(1) 

7. Title 18, United States Code, Section 2339B states: "Whoever knowingly provides 

material support or resources to a foreign terrorist organization, or attempts or conspires to do so, 

shall be fined under this title or imprisoned .... To violate this paragraph, a person must have 

knowledge that the organization is a designated terrorist organization (as defined in subsection 

(g)(6», that the organization has engaged or engages in terrorist activity (as defined in section 

212(a)(3)(B) of the Immigration and Nationality Act), or that the organization has engaged or 

engages in terrorism (as defined in section 140(d)(2) of the Foreign Relations Authorization Act, 

Fiscal Years 1988 and 1989)." Title 18 U .S.C. § 2339(A)(b)(1) provides a definition for material 

support, which includes "any property, tangible or intangible, or service, including ... training, 

expert advice or assistance ... weapons ... (and) personnel (one or more individuals who may be or 

include oneself)." 

Designation of ISIS as a Foreign Terrorist Organization 

8. On or about October 15, 2004, the United States Secretary of State designated al- Qaeda in 

Iraq (AQI), then known as Jam 'at al Tawid wa' al-Jahid, as a Foreign Terrorist Organization 

(FTO) under Section 219 of the Immigration and Nationality Act and as a Specially Designated 

Global Terrorist entity under section l(b) of Executive order 13224. On or about May 15,2014, 

the Secretary of State amended the designation of AQI as an FTO under Section 219 of the 

Immigration and Nationality Act and as a Specially Designated Global Terrorist entity under 

section l(b) of Executive Order 13224 to add the alias Islamic State ofiraq and the Levant (ISIL) 
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long gun from a retail store in North Charleston, South Carolina, and that on that same date, Abdin 

attempted to purchase a used New England Firearms (NEF), single shot, .308 Winchester caliber 

rifle, serial number NM295031. 

13. On about January 13, 2017, Abdin contacted the FBI Columbia-Charleston Resident 

Agency at the suggestion of South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) Agents and 

scheduled an interview. On or about January 20, 2017, Abdin visited the FBI Columbia-

Charleston Resident Agency in Mount Pleasant, SC to meet with SA Clinton Pierce. During this 

interview, SA Pierce advised Abdin about the FBI's role in conducting counterterrorism 

investigations and outlined for him various statutory definitions. SA Pierce provided the definitions 

for terrorism and specifically told Abdin that ISIS was a designated foreign terrorist organization 

(FTO) and that it was illegal to give any FTO any form of material support, including personnel. 

Abdin indicated that he understood these things. In fact, during the interview, Abdin stated that 

he wanted nothing to do with his past actions and claimed that he had completely disassociated 

himself with extremist ideology. Abdin stated that he purchased a 7mm-08 single-shot hunting rifle 

to be used for hunting and would like to obtain a hunting license. Abdin's purchase was confirmed 

by way of a transaction record detailing Abdin's purchase on or about 01110/2017 where Abdin 

returned a New England Firearms (NEF), Single Shot Win .308 rifle, Serial number: 

C1NM295031, originally purchased on 01/07117 for $99.99, plus $8.50 sales tax. A hand written 

note on the receipt stated, "Buying new gun when money returns to credit card", "new gun", and 

"010633017085". The January 19, 2017 transaction record detailed a firearm sale to Abdin for a New 

England Firearms, model SB2, Handi-Rifle Youth, 7mm-08 caliber, with serial number 

CBA436519 for $224.99. Other items purchased during this visit included a Traditional Red Dot: 

1x30mm optic for $39.99, and one box of American Whitetail 7mm ammunition for $24.99. In 

addition, during the interview on January 20, 2017 with the FBI, Abdin stated that he had only one 

SMP-1 account. 
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connection ... my situation is very different then some of the other ikhwa [brothers].. But 

alhamduliah [praise to God] It was just a test from Allah ... and a test of sabr [patience]. Abdin 

continued the conversation stating he has the "tawaghet [Tyrants] fooled" (a term that likely refers to 

law enforcement and others in the United States into thinking he is conforming to societal norms. 

Abdin stated "I need to get out of here as soon as possible ... for the sake of Allah help me as much 

as you can." UCE-I advised Abdin that they (the UCE and fellow ISIS brothers) will do what they 

can and asked if Abdin had a job to pay for his travel. Abdin responded that he is a mechanic and in 

one month could come up with approximately $1200. Abdin further stated that the U.S. officials have 

no choice but to let him travel as long Abdin has a good excuse to do so. During this conversation, 

Abdin sent UCE-I a photo of the cover of a U.S. passport stating, "I want you to know who you are 

dealing with". Then Abdin sent another photo of a masked person holding what appears to be a rifle 

and stated, "This is me. So I want you to believe me. I am real akhi." UCE-l responded and 

said that Abdin's photo looks like a real mujahid [fighter], to which Abdin replied, "Yes, I am 

longing for it. . .1 want the ikhwah to know that I am very reliable in close combat .. .1 require no 

training." 

21. In the same conversation UCE-l informed Abdin to "remember once you come here you 

will have to kill and you will see dead people including many dead friends. Are you prepared to kill? 

Walahi some of the brothers from the west when they come they get scared and want to go back." 

Abdin responded, "Akhi. What question is this? WALLAHI [ I SWEAR] I want to kill and be killed. 

I run towards the enemy like a lion to a sheep." "I am longing to be with my ikhwah [brothers]. I 

dislike being alone here in the US ... Rafidi [Shia muslims], murtadeen, kuffar, PKK [Kurdish 

Workers' Party], all of these I have no problem and no sadness to kill". 

22. The conversation from February 21, 2017, continued between Abdin and UCE-I, 

wherein Abdin described the excuse he had come up with to travel. Abdin stated "my excuse is .. .1 am 

going to the dead sea for vacation off work". Abdin then advised UCE-l that he was under "high 

ctfl 
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ticket counter where he provided the attendant with travel documents and received a boarding pass for 

international travel to Amman, Jordan. Abdin then proceeded from the ticketing counter toward the 

Transportation Security Administration's security screening area. 

Conclusion 

52. Based on the foregoing, your Affiant believes that there is probable cause to show that 

between on or about January 03, 2017, and on or about March 30, 2017, Zakaryia Abdel Abdin 

attempted to provide material support, including personnel, to ISIS, a designated foreign terrorist 

organization, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 2339B(a)(l), and that Abdin 

committed overt acts in furtherance of his attempt to provide material support in the District of South 

Carolina. 

This affidavit has been reviewed by Assistant United States Attorney Sean Kittrell 

Respectfully submitted, 

~ 
Special Agent 
Federal Bureau of Investigation 

/J!; 
Subscribed and sworn '"',yMt tli-'/_i -++_+-~ 

, ; . / f' 

/ '1 
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BRISTOW MARCHANT 
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE 




